FILED
11-13-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

Appeal No.: 2019AP1918 Circuit Court Case No. 2019 CV 790

CHEYNE MONROE,

Plaintiff-Appellant

- V. -

CHAD CHASE,

Defendant/Respondent

Appeal From A Decision Dated October 1, 2019, By The Circuit Court For Dane County, Wisconsin, The Honorable Valerie Bailey-Rihn Presiding

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF AND APPENDIX

AUERBACH & PORTER, S.C.

Richard J. Auerbach
Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant

Post Office Box 620205-0205 Middleton, WI 53562 Telephone: (608) 664-3800

Email: rauerbach@auerbach-porter.com

State Bar #1008842

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This appeal presents a single issue: Does a unilateral decision to request dismissal of a prior termination of parental rights action satisfy the third element of the tort of malicious prosecution, which requires a showing that the prior action terminated in favor of the tort plaintiff?

The trial court answered "No."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT/PUBLICATION

Oral argument is often helpful when, as hear, competing public policy issues are involved.

Publication is recommended, as clarifying the issue will provide statewide guidance. The undersigned counsel has had two cases in the past few years where this issue was presented to Dane County trial courts, with varying outcomes, suggesting that it is an issue likely to reoccur. Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 10 of 57

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff/Appellant ("Cheyne") filed a Summons and Complaint [R:1] on March 22, 2019, alleging the tort of malicious prosecution. She alleged that Defendant/Respondent ("Chad") maliciously filed a termination of parental rights ("TPR") action without probable cause. The third element of the tort of malicious prosecution required a showing that the TPR action terminated in Cheyne's favor.

To meet this requirement, the Complaint alleged that Defendant/Respondent withdrew the TPR petition:

Despite the obvious contradiction between his claims in the TPR case and the truth, as established by his sworn affidavit in the Minnesota case, his self-reporting to FCS and other evidence, despite the stipulation to on-going placement in Minnesota, despite multiple requests from Cheyne's Wisconsin counsel to drop the TRP, and despite a recommendation from the guardian ad litem that the juvenile court action be dismissed, Chad refused to dismiss the TPR proceedings. Instead, it would be over 6 additional months before, on the cusp of a court hearing, Chad finally withdrew the petition for termination of parental rights. [R:1,¶13]

The Complaint additionally alleged that "[t]he dismissal was not the result of any settlement or stipulation; rather, it was Chad's unilateral decision to request its dismissal [R:1:¶18].

Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 11 of 57

Chad filed a Motion to Dismiss [R:3] on May 23, 2019, asserting in relevant part that his unilateral withdrawal of the termination of parental rights petition did not satisfy the third element of the tort of malicious prosecution because it was not an outcome in Cheyne's favor. The issue was briefed [R:6 and 8], argued orally on September 16, 2019 [R:9], and dismissed by written order on October 1, 2019 [R:11]. The trial court's decision concluded that Chad's voluntary withdrawal of the termination of parental rights action was not a termination in Cheyne's favor.

Cheyne timely filed a Notice of Appeal on October 8, 2019 [R:12]. After briefing was completed, the Court of Appeals certified the appeal to the Supreme Court on August 13, 2020, which accepted the case by order dated October 21, 2020.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This trial court granted Chad's motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim for relief. As a result, the only facts are those in the Complaint [R:1], which must be taken as true for purposes of the dismissal motion (see infra). The pertinent facts, with the paragraph numbers taken from the Complaint, are:

Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 12 of 57

- Cheyne and Chad were divorced in the State of Minnesota.
- Under the stipulated terms of the divorce judgment, Chad was granted primary placement of C.C., a 7 year old girl, and Cheyne was permitted periods of non-primary placement.
- ¶5 In 2016, Cheyne contacted Chad in order to set up a regular placement schedule for herself with C.C.
- Chad's response was to tell Cheyne that she should get a lawyer. He then hired Wisconsin counsel (having moved to Wisconsin after the Minnesota divorce was granted) and filed an action against Cheyne in Dane County Circuit Court. A copy of the pleadings in that action was filed by Chad in the Minnesota divorce court, which shows that it was an action for the termination of Cheyne's parental rights to C.C., alleging abandonment as the pertinent grounds. [Footnote omitted.]
- According to the copy of the petition for termination of parental rights that Chad filed in Minnesota, Chad alleged that Cheyne had abandoned C.C. Specifically, he alleged that there had been no contact between C.C. and Cheyne for approximately 3 years, in person and by calls and/or letters.
- This allegation was false and was known to be false at the time it was made.
- In the same time period, Cheyne filed a motion in the parties' Minnesota divorce proceedings to establish a set placement schedule. In response, Chad filed an affidavit that admitted to some contact between C.C. and Cheyne and acknowledged that Cheyne had sent written communications to C.C. on multiple occasions.
- ¶10 Shortly thereafter, Chad stipulated to a specific

Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 13 of 57

placement schedule on an interim basis, which stipulation was approved by the Minnesota family court. Part of the stipulation included the transfer of jurisdiction over the family proceedings to Dane County, where Chad and C.C. resided.

- ¶11 In addition, Chad alleged that grounds for termination of Cheyne's parental rights existed pursuant to §48.415(6), which requires proof that Cheyne never had a substantial parental relationship with C.C.
- 12 However, Chad was aware that Cheyne had stayed home with C.C. while he worked full time outside of the home after C.C. was born, until the parties separated in September, 2011, roughly 17 months after C.C.'s birth. Moreover, Chad was aware that the parties exercised equal placement for a period of time after their separation.
- In the TPR case and the truth, as established by his sworn affidavit in the Minnesota case, his self-reporting to FCS and other evidence, despite the stipulation to on-going placement in Minnesota, despite multiple requests from Cheyne's Wisconsin counsel to drop the TPR, and despite a recommendation from the guardian ad litem that the juvenile court action be dismissed, Chad refused to dismiss the TPR proceedings. Instead, it would be over 6 additional months before, on the cusp of a court hearing, Chad finally withdrew the petition for termination of parental rights.
- The From approximately July of 2016 to March 28, 2017 (when the TPR was dismissed), the family court proceedings in Dane County were stayed by court order because the pending juvenile court proceedings were paramount.

...

- The tort of malicious prosecution requires proof of six elements:
 - There must have been a previous judicial proceeding brought against the victim.
 - The previous proceeding must have brought by the defendant in the malicious prosecution lawsuit.
 - The previous proceeding must have resulted in a judgment or ruling in favor of the defendant in the malicious prosecution lawsuit.
 - There must have been malice in instituting the previous proceeding.
 - There must have been lack of probable cause supporting the former proceeding.
 - There must have been injury or damage resulting to the victim from the former proceedings
- ¶16¹ The previous judicial proceeding relied upon by Cheyne is the Dane County termination of parental rights action. This satisfies the first element.
- The second element is satisfied inasmuch as Chad was the petitioner in the termination of parental rights action and Cheyne was the respondent.
- *18 The third element is satisfied by the dismissal of the petition, which occurred on March 28, 2017. The dismissal was not the result of any settlement or stipulation; rather, it was Chad's unilateral decision

The Complaint erroneously misnumbered paragraphs: there are two paragraphs #16 and #17. The misnumbering is kept here so that the references to the Complaint are consistent.

Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 15 of 57

to request its dismissal.

¶19 The fourth element, malice, is clearly present.

- a. Chad filed the action knowing that Cheyne was pursuing placement of C.C.
- b. He filed the action knowing that the only possible basis for such an action was to claim that Cheyne had abandoned C.C., which requires proof that the parent has failed to visit or communicate with the child for a period of 6 months or longer. He alleged that Cheyne had not contacted C.C. but in a separate and sworn document acknowledged that she had done so repeatedly.
- Moreover, Chad then tried to use the pendency C. of the TPR action as a reason to deny placement to Chevne in the Minnesota divorce action, violating §48.299(1)(b), Stats., which provides: "... any person who divulges any information which would identify the child, the expectant mother or the family involved in any proceeding under this chapter shall be subject to ch. 785." The filing of the TPR petition in the Minnesota court, which occurred without an order permitting such filing by the Dane County Juvenile Court, also violated §48.396(2)(a), Stats., which provides in relevant part: "Records of the court assigned to exercise jurisdiction under this chapter ... shall not be open to inspection or their contents disclosed except by order of the court assigned to exercise jurisdiction under this chapter...."
- d. Additionally, Chad (either directly or via counsel) would have received a copy of the Dane County family court order staying the

Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 16 of 57

family court proceedings while the TPR action was pending: Chad took advantage of that stay for at least 8 additional months while knowing that his factual allegations in support of the TPR action were false.

- The fifth element is established by Chad's own affidavit, which establishes that there were multiple communications by Cheyne to C.C. during the applicable time period (precluding a finding of abandonment) and uncontroverted evidence that Cheyne played a substantial parental role in C.C.'s upbringing, including equal or fully shared placement from her birth in May, 2010 until late 2011.
- ¶21 Finally, there has been considerable damage:
 - a. Cheyne incurred substantial legal fees and costs defending against the action. Her costs include costs billed to her by counsel, travel expenses (airline tickets, hotels, etc.) in order to appear in Wisconsin to defend against the action, and lost income from missed work (both her own and her husband's, who traveled with her for emotional support and as a witness). Fees related to the TPR action are estimated at between \$20,000 and \$30,000; costs are estimated at \$1,500; lost income is estimated at \$1,000 (closer to \$2,500 if her husband's use of leave/sick time is considered).
 - b. The delay in the family court proceedings delayed her ability to obtain increased periods of placement. Lost time with C.C. can never be made up.
 - c. The threat of losing her parental rights caused Cheyne substantial emotional distress. She engaged in counseling to support herself (and

Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 17 of 57

incurred the expense), but nonetheless experienced severe symptoms of hopelessness. despair, and anxiety at the thought of losing her daughter. The impact on Cheyne was markedly greater because she was already diagnosed with PTSD as a result of domestic abuse by Chad during the marriage.

ARGUMENT

OVERVIEW

In a malicious prosecution action, the plaintiff must show that a previous action terminated in her favor. At issue is whether a unilateral dismissal or withdrawal of the earlier action by the plaintiff in the previous action is, or can be, a termination favorable enough to support a malicious prosecution action.

The trial court felt compelled to dismiss Cheyne's action for malicious prosecution based on a footnote in *Pronger v. O'Dell.* 127 Wis. 2d 292, 297, 379 N.W.2d 330 (Ct. App. 1985), notwithstanding apparent contradiction between that footnote and this Court's earlier decisions. Because the Court of Appeals is generally required to adhere to their own precedent, *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 188, 560 N.W.2d 246, 255 (1997), there appeared to be two choices available to the Court of Appeals:

Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 18 of 57

apply the language of the footnote or distinguish it and apply the language of this Court's earlier cases. Thus, the parties' briefs focused on the weight that the footnote ought be given, with only moderate attention to the underlying policy considerations and almost none given to the treatment of this issue in other jurisdictions.

Recognizing an apparent contradiction between *Tower* and earlier decisions, the Court of Appeals certified the issue to this Court, which has the authority to overrule or distinguish prior decisions of the Court of Appeals, and may modify even its own precedent when circumstances support doing so. This Brief will therefore go beyond what was argued before the Court of Appeals and discuss the varying approaches taken among the states as well as the underlying policy considerations.

I. BECAUSE THE FACTS ARE UNDISPUTED, THE ISSUE PRESENTS A QUESTION OF LAW WHICH THIS COURT REVIEWS DE NOVO.

When the issue "entails the application of a set of undisputed facts to a legal standard, it is a question of law which [the appellate courts] answer without deference to the trial court...." Towne Realty v. Zurich Insurance Co., 201 Wis.2d 260, 270, 548 N.W.2d 64 (1996).

Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 19 of 57

In Green Spring Farms v. Kersten, 136 Wis. 2d 304, 317, 401 N.W.2d 816 (1987), this Court stated:

In testing the sufficiency of a complaint, we take all facts pleaded by plaintiffs and all inferences which can reasonably be derived from those facts as true. Pleadings are to be liberally construed, with a view toward substantial justice to the parties. Section 802.02(6). Stats. The complaint should be dismissed as legally insufficient only if it is quite clear that under no circumstances can plaintiffs recover.

Since the only facts are those in the Complaint which must be taken as true, the facts are undisputed. Accordingly, the sufficiency of the Complaint presents a question of law which this Court reviews without deference to the trial court.

II. PLAINTIFFS IN MALICIOUS PROSECUTION ACTIONS MUST SHOW THAT THE PRIOR ACTION TERMINATED IN THEIR FAVOR.

Cheyne's malicious prosecution action alleges that Chad, knowing that she sought a specific placement schedule for their mimor child in their Minnesota divorce action, filed a Wisconsin termination of parental rights ("TPR") action based on knowingly false factual representations. He then utilized the TPR action's 8 month pendency to delay Wisconsin family court proceedings, withdrawing the petition immediately before a court

hearing on Cheyne's motion to dismiss.2

Six elements must be proven to establish the tort of malicious prosecution, *Schier v. Denny*, 9 Wis. 2d 340, 342, 101 N.W.2d 35 (1960); see also Wisconsin Pub. Serv. Corp. v. Andrews, 316 Wis. 2d 734, 766 N.W.2d 232 (2009). They are:

- 1) Prior institution of legal proceedings against Plaintiff;
- 2) Such proceedings must have been by or at the instance of Defendant;
- 3) The prior proceedings must have terminated in Plaintiff's favor;
- 4) The prior proceedings must have been initiated with malice;
- 5) There must have been a lack of probable cause to initiate the prior action; and
- 6) The former proceedings must have caused injury or damage to Plaintiff.

The trial court held that the Complaint failed to establish the third such element, that the TPR initiated by Chad terminated in Cheyne's favor.

A termination of parental rights action is commenced by filing a petition that must contain facts establishing one or more of the statutory grounds listed in §48.415. See: §48.42(1)(c)2.

Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 21 of 57

III. IN WISCONSIN, A PARTY CANNOT SETTLE THE PRIOR ACTION AND THEN BASE A MALICIOUS PROSECUTION CLAIM ON THAT SETTLED ACTION.

Wisconsin case law is clear that a defendant in a particular action cannot settle the case and thereafter bring an action for malicious prosecution. Nearly 80 years ago, this Court decided *Lechner v. Ebenreiter*, 235 Wis. 244, 252, 292 N.W. 913 (1940). It said:

The general rule relied on by defendants as to this effect is stated in 18 R. C. L. p. 25, § 13:

"It is generally held that where the original proceeding has been terminated without regard to its merits or propriety by agreement or settlement of the parties, or solely by the procurement of the accused as a matter of favor, or as a result of some act, trick, or device preventing action and consideration by the court, there is no such termination as may be availed of for the purpose of an action for malicious prosecution. The reason for this rule is that where the termination of the case is brought about by a compromise or settlement between the parties, understandingly entered into, it is such an admission that there was probable cause that the plaintiff cannot afterwards retract it and try the question, which by settling he waived." [Emphasis added.]

Lechner further explained, supra at 252:

This rule is stated in 38 C. J. p. 443, § 95, as follows:

"Where the termination of a criminal prosecution or civil action has been brought about by the Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 22 of 57

procurement of defendant therein, or by compromise and settlement, an action for malicious prosecution cannot be maintained. A limitation of the rule, recognized by some decisions, is that the procurement or compromise must be voluntary." Id. [Emphasis added.]

The Lechner court was considering a case where the district attorney had dismissed larceny charges against a defendant (the plaintiff in the malicious prosecution action). The record showed that the dismissal was accompanied by an agreement that certain certificates allegedly stolen by the defendant in the criminal case would be turned over to a third party. The defendants in the malicious prosecution action argued that this was an agreement that precluded using the criminal action as the predicate for a malicious prosecution action.

The Lechner court disagreed, stating at 254:

Referring to the statement quoted above from Ruling Case Law to the effect that a dismissal based upon agreement or settlement or one procured by the accused as matter of favor constitutes an admission of probable cause, the proceedings evidenced as above stated cannot be considered such admission as matter of law. [Emphasis added.]

It focused on the difference between an action that admitted the alleged larceny and the agreement to turn the certificates over to a third party, which merely admitted that there was no on-going right to possess them

Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 23 of 57

and did not admit that they were stolen. *Id.*, at 254-55. Because there was no admission to larceny, the agreement between the district attorney and criminal defendant was not an agreement or settlement that admitted probable cause.

Nine years later, the Wisconsin Supreme Court decided *Bristol v. Eckhardt*, 254 Wis. 297, 36 N.W.2d 56 (1949). In *Bristol*, the tort plaintiff had been charged criminally and incarcerated. He worked out an agreement with the district attorney that resulted in his release from jail in order to obtain refinancing and pay off the underlying obligation, resulting in dismissal of the criminal charge. He then filed a malicious prosecution action. The Wisconsin Supreme Court agreed with the trial court's dismissal:

[W]e are forced to conclude that the release of plaintiff was at his procurement and that of the district attorney as part of a transaction amounting to a compromise or settlement of the difficulties between the parties and that this is not such a termination of the proceedings favorable to plaintiff as can form the basis for an action for malicious prosecution. [Emphasis added.]

The next relevant case is *Elmer v. Chicago & N. W. R. Co.*, 257 Wis. 228, 43 N.W.2d 244 (1950). In this case, the defendant had also caused the plaintiff to be criminally charged. However, prior to the trial of

Case 2019AP001918 Appellant Brief Filed 11-13-2020 Page 24 of 57

the criminal case, it was dismissed by the district attorney for lack of evidence, and the defendant in the criminal case became the plaintiff in an action for malicious prosecution. The Wisconsin Supreme Court observed:

The former proceeding terminated in favor of the defendant therein as the criminal charge was dismissed on motion of the district attorney for insufficient evidence. Id., at 232.

Then, in 1976, the Wisconsin Supreme Court, in *Thompson v. Beecham*, 72 Wis.2d 346, 360, 241 N.W. 2d 163 (1976), cited *Lechner* for the proposition that a voluntary compromise or settlement of the former action precludes a claim for malicious prosecution and stated:

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