**FILED** 12-03-2020 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

Appeal No. 2019AP1918

#### SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Cheyne Monroe,

Case 2019AP001918

Plaintiff-Appellant,

V.

Chad Chase,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER ENTERED OCTOBER 1, 2019, CIRCUIT COURT, BRANCH 3, DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN, THE HONORABLE VALERIE BAILEY-RIHN PRESIDING, DANE COUNTY CASE NO. 2019-CV-790

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT CHAD CHASE

Christopher J. Dodge State Bar No. 1011530 Jeanne M. Armstrong State Bar No. 1021451 Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent

#

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

1. Did a voluntary dismissal that did not adjudicate the merits of the underlying action constitute a termination of the original proceeding in favor of the Plaintiff-Appellant Cheyne Monroe for purposes of stating a claim for malicious prosecution?

The circuit court answered: No.

Filed 12-03-2020

### **STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

In its Order dated October 21, 2020, this Court granted the court of appeals' request for certification and issued an order on briefing. In the Order, this Court stated that the parties shall be notified of the date and time for oral argument in this appeal in due course.

Filed 12-03-2020

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case.

Plaintiff-Appellant Cheyne Monroe ("Cheyne") filed a civil action for malicious prosecution on March 22, 2019. R.1. The Complaint related to a previous action between the same parties, involving a claim by Defendant-Respondent Chad Chase ("Chad") against Cheyne for termination of parental rights. Chad ultimately dismissed that proceeding without a determination on the merits. R. 1:  $4 (\P 18)$ .

In the present action, Chad filed a Motion to Dismiss on May 23, 2019 due to Cheyne's failure to state a valid claim for relief. R.3. The Motion to Dismiss asserted that Cheyne failed to allege sufficient facts to meet the pleading requirements for a claim of malicious prosecution. In the Motion to Dismiss, Chad alleged that Cheyne failed to satisfy the third element of the tort of malicious prosecution, which requires a showing that the prior action terminated in favor of the plaintiff.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Chad also asserted that Cheyne failed to properly plead the sixth element of malicious prosecution, which requires, inter alia, a claim for special damages. However, this basis of Chad's motion is not a

subject of appeal.

Filed 12-03-2020

#### B. Procedural Background and Disposition.

Following briefing and extensive oral argument, the circuit court determined that Cheyne had failed to meet one of the elements of malicious prosecution, namely, that the former proceeding must have been terminated in favor of the plaintiff in the current action, who was the defendant in the former proceeding. The circuit court therefore dismissed Cheyne's Complaint. R. 11. On the record, the circuit court stated as follows:

> All right. Though I think your arguments are good, I just think that under Lechner that there was an act to prevent action and consideration by the Court because there was never a trial in this issue. It was resolved before trial. And I think under Tower and Pronger, especially footnote two, a voluntary dismissal that does not adjudicate the merits does not constitute a favorable judicial determination of the action. I think I am bound by those decisions to find that there was not – that element was not met for a malicious prosecution.

R. 13, p. 25:15-24; R-App. 102.

Cheyne filed a Notice of Appeal on October 8, 2019. R.

12. Following briefing by the parties, the court of appeals

requested certification of the appeal to the Supreme Court on August 13, 2020, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.61.

By Order dated October 21, 2020, the Supreme Court accepted the certification of this appeal.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

At question, for purposes of this appeal, is only one of the six elements of a malicious prosecution claim. On Chad's motion to dismiss, the circuit court correctly ruled that Cheyne failed to satisfy the third element of a malicious prosecution claim, namely, that the prior action must have been terminated in her favor.

Because the facts alleged in the Complaint must be taken as true in deciding a motion to dismiss, those are the facts that are applied and those are the facts that must show that the party is entitled to relief. In short, "it is the sufficiency of the facts alleged that control the determination of whether a claim for relief is properly plead." Strid v. Converse, 111 Wis. 2d 418, 422–23, 331 N.W.2d 350 (1983). In Strid, the

Wisconsin Supreme Court held that "[a]n examination of the complaint leads to the conclusion that it fails to allege the third element of a claim for malicious prosecution—that the complained of proceedings terminated in favor of the defendant, who then became the plaintiff in the subsequent malicious prosecution action." *Strid*, 111 Wis. 2d at 424.

The issue presently before this Court is whether the Complaint states a claim for relief, which is a question of law. Dull v. Advance Mepco Cent. Lab, Inc., 151 Wis. 2d 524, 528, 444 N.W.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1989). Therefore, this Court reviews the determination of the circuit court de novo, owing no deference to the circuit court. See, e.g., Towne Realty v. Zurich Insurance Co., 201 Wis. 2d 260, 270, 548 N.W.2d 64 (1996); Pronger v. O'Dell, 127 Wis. 2d 292, 296, 379 N.W.2d 330 (Ct. App. 1985).

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT CHEYNE MONROE FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE PRIOR ACTION TERMINATED IN HER FAVOR AND THAT, THEREFORE, SHE FAILED TO STATE A CLAIM OF MALICIOUS PROSECUTION.

The circuit court properly dismissed Cheyne's Complaint. The third element in a malicious prosecution case requires that the former proceeding must have terminated in favor of the plaintiff. *Schier v. Denny*, 9 Wis. 2d 340, 342, 101 N.W.2d 35 (1960). Here, the former proceeding did not terminate in favor of the plaintiff. Nor does Cheyne specifically allege in her Complaint that it was terminated in her favor, instead simply stating that the dismissal satisfied the third element and that "[t]he dismissal was not the result of any settlement or stipulation; rather, it was Chad's unilateral decision to request its dismissal." R. 1: 4 (¶ 18).

For the reasons set forth below, voluntary dismissal does not constitute a favorable termination under Wisconsin law. Cheyne has failed to allege facts supporting the third

element of a malicious prosecution claim and, therefore, the circuit court acted correctly in dismissing her Complaint.

# A. The *Lechner, Tower*, and *Pronger* Cases Control and Require a Favorable Termination of the Prior Case, Which Did Not Occur in the Matter Before the Court.

The third element in a malicious prosecution claim requires that the prior action must have been terminated in favor of the plaintiff. *Schier*, 9 Wis. 2d at 342. In *Pronger v. O'Dell*, 127 Wis. 2d 292, 379 N.W.2d 330 (Ct. App. 1985), the court held that the plaintiff's "counterclaim for malicious prosecution was premature since it was instituted prior to a favorable termination." *Pronger*, 127 Wis. 2d at 296. In footnote two (2) to the *Pronger* decision, the court further explained its holding, noting that "a voluntary dismissal that does not adjudicate the merits of the claim does not constitute a favorable judicial termination of an action sufficient to support a claim for malicious prosecution." *Id.* at 296, n.2.

Pronger is one of the few cases in Wisconsin that deals directly with this issue and is important in understanding Wisconsin's requirement for the third element of a malicious

prosecution case. Far from changing Wisconsin law, as suggested by Cheyne,<sup>2</sup> *Pronger* reiterates the longstanding precedent that "where the original proceeding has been terminated without regard to its merits or propriety by agreement or settlement of the parties, or solely by the procurement of the accused as a matter of favor, or as a result of some act, trick, or device preventing action and consideration by the court, there is no such termination as may be availed of for the purpose of an action for malicious prosecution." *Tower Special Facilities v. Inv. Club*, 104 Wis. 2d 221, 228, 311 N.W.2d 225 (Ct. App. 1981), *quoting Lechner v. Ebenreiter*, 235 Wis. 244, 252, 292 N.W. 913 (1940).

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For example, in support of her argument that the *Pronger* footnote should be given little weight "because it appears likely that its failure to include the phrase 'by agreement or settlement' was inadvertent," (Plaintiff/Appellant's Supreme Court Brief at pp. 20-21), Cheyne states that *Pronger* (unlike *Lechner*) never mentioned the concepts of waiver or admission of probable cause "inherent to agreements or stipulations that resolve the predicate action" and concluded: "It seems highly improbable that the *Pronger* court would fail to discuss the reasons for the *Lechner* language while intentionally changing the rule in that case." (*Id.* at p. 26.) However, as noted below, in Section II. B., *infra*, *Pronger* did not change the rule of law in Wisconsin.

In this matter, Cheyne admits in her Complaint that the prior action was concluded by dismissal of the petition. R. 1:4 (¶18). Under Wis. Stat. § 805.04(2) a dismissal is not on the merits unless the court orders that it is. Cheyne does not allege that underlying proceeding was dismissed with prejudice. Nor can she.

The underlying action was terminated without regard to its merits and, therefore, Cheyne cannot fulfill the third element of a malicious prosecution claim. For this reason, the circuit court properly dismissed Cheyne's Complaint as a matter of law.

#### B. The *Pronger* Footnote is Not *Dicta* and is Consistent with Wisconsin Law.

In her brief, Cheyne argues that the footnote in *Pronger* is "clearly dicta." (Plaintiff/Appellant Initial Brief And Appendix filed with State of Wisconsin Supreme Court ("Plaintiff-Appellant's Supreme Court Brief"), p. 21). Chad disagrees.

The *Pronger* case, like the case before this Court, involved the voluntary dismissal of a state court claim. The

Pronger plaintiff then filed her case in federal court and the counterclaimed defendant subsequently for malicious prosecution. *Pronger*, 127 Wis. 2d at 296.

The Court of Appeals found that the element of "favorable resolution" could not be satisfied because the claim for malicious prosecution was instituted before there was any favorable termination of the proceedings upon which it was based. Id. at 296. The Court of Appeals then stated in a footnote: "In addition, we note that a voluntary dismissal that does not adjudicate the merits of the claim does not constitute a favorable judicial termination of an action sufficient to support a claim for malicious prosecution." *Id.* at 296, n. 2, citing Tower Special Facilities v. Inv. Club, 104 Wis.2d 221, 228, 311 N.W.2d 225, 229 (Ct. App.1981).

We have found no law indicating that placement of language in a footnote renders that language dicta. Cheyne cites to several cases where the Court of Appeals, and in one case, the dissenting opinion in a Supreme Court decision, apparently discounted language of a decision that was "only in

a footnote." (See Plaintiff-Appellant's Supreme Court Brief at pp. 22-24.) However, none of these decisions ruled that the language was dicta because it was contained in a footnote.

In fact, a review of the *Pronger* decision shows that the language in its footnote was not dicta. Dictum "is a statement or language expressed in a court's opinion which extends beyond the facts in the case and is broader than necessary and not essential to the determination of the issues before it." Estate of Genrich v. OHIC Ins. Co., 2009 WI 67, ¶ 39, 318 Wis. 2d 553, 769 N.W.2d 481.

In the *Pronger* case, however, the language in the footnote neither "extends beyond the facts in the case" nor "broadens" the ruling set forth in the non-footnoted language. See Pronger, 127 Wis. 2d at 296, n. 2. Instead, the footnoted language relies upon the same facts and, if anything, narrows the ruling to cases involving a previous voluntary dismissal.

Chevne also suggests that the use of the words "we note that..." indicates that the footnoted language is dicta. (Plaintiff-Appellant's Supreme Court Brief at p. 21.) Cheyne

Page 18 of 40

fails to recognize that the footnoted language is not only a ruling being made by the court, but also a commentary on prior decisions. The Pronger footnote cites Tower Special Facilities, 104 Wis. 2d at 228. The Tower case made it clear that a dismissal without adjudication of the merits is insufficient for purposes of a malicious prosecution claim. *Id.* 

The *Pronger* footnote is not *dicta*, and the decision of the Court of Appeals in the *Pronger* case, which is consistent with the holdings of *Tower* and *Lechner*, is controlling in this case and requires dismissal of Cheyne's claim of malicious prosecution.

C. Although Settlement of a Former Proceeding Does Constitute "Favorable Resolution" the Required in a Malicious Prosecution Action, It Does Not Follow that All Cases Terminated Without a Signed Settlement Agreement Do Constitute a "Favorable Resolution"; And, In Fact, They Do Not Under Wisconsin Law.

Cheyne uses a significant portion of her brief to argue that a prior resolution through settlement or stipulation is not sufficient to satisfy the "favorable resolution" element of a malicious prosecution claim. Chad agrees with the assertion

that a defendant in a prior lawsuit may not settle that case and then bring an action for malicious prosecution. The case law supports that proposition. See, e.g., Lechner, 235 Wis. at 252; Elmer v. Chicago & N. W. R. Co., 257 Wis. 228, 231, 43 N.W.2d 244 (1950); Thompson v. Beecham, 72 Wis. 2d 346, 241 N.W.2d 163 (1976); Tower Special Facilities, Inc., 104 Wis. 2d at 227-28. However, the Complaint does not allege that the prior action in this matter was resolved by settlement or stipulation. As such, this proposition is not at issue in this before this Court.

To the extent Cheyne is arguing that only those cases that are resolved by settlement fail to meet the "favorable resolution" standard, such a reading is contradicted by the very cases cited by Plaintiff-Appellant in her brief. In *Lechner*, the court held:

> It is generally held that where the original proceeding has been terminated without regard to its merits or propriety by agreement or settlement of the parties, or solely by the procurement of the accused as a matter of favor, or as a result of some act, trick, or device preventing action and consideration by the court, there is no such termination as may be availed of

for the purpose of an action for malicious prosecution.

Lechner, 235 Wis. at 252 (emphases added). In other words, there are a number of types of termination that generally preclude a finding of favorable resolution of the prior proceeding. Id. See also Bristol v. Eckhardt, 254 Wis. 297, 300, 36 N.W.2d 56 (1949).

Thus, although the *Lechner* court cites various types of terminations that would not constitute "favorable resolution," Cheyne largely ignores all types except where a case is terminated by agreement or settlement of the parties without regard to its propriety. For example, Cheyne ignores the Lechner court's holding that there is not a favorable resolution when a former proceeding was terminated as a result of an act preventing consideration by the court. A voluntary dismissal certainly qualifies as an act preventing consideration by the court.

Cheyne has previously argued that the term "act" must refer to something "shady or inappropriate" because it is used in the same phrase as "trick" and "device." (See Plaintiff-

Appellant's Reply Brief before the Court of Appeals, at pp. 12-13.) However, the term "device" need not be "shady or inappropriate." A "device" has been defined to include a "plan, procedure, technique." See Webster's Collegiate Dictionary, 316 (10th ed. 2001).

Thus, the argument that "act" must have a negative connotation because it is used with the words "trick or device" is without merit. Moreover, assigning the terms "act" and "device" the same meaning as "trick" would render those words mere surplusage. If "act" means some kind of a "trick," why use the term "act" at all?

A dismissal of the underlying proceeding was an act preventing consideration by that court. The circuit court in the instant action correctly agreed, holding "I think that clearly there was a result of some action by the defendant in this action that prevented the action and consideration by the Court in the previous action." R. 13:28; R-App. 105.

#### D. Elmer v. Chicago is Consistent with Pronger.

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